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We heard the employee's claims for additional benefits at Anchorage, Alaska, on May 11, 1999.  Attorney Meredith Ahearn represented the employee.  Attorney Michael Budzinski represented the employer.  The parties filed depositions at the May 11, 1999 hearing.  To allow the panel members an opportunity to review and exchange the depositions, the parties agreed to keep the record open a minimum of two weeks.  We closed the record on June 2, 1999, when we first met after exchanging the depositions.  


ISSUES

1.
Whether the employee is entitled to additional temporary total disability (TTD) benefits.


2.
Whether the employee is entitled to permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits.  


3.
Whether the employee is entitled to additional medical costs, and related transportation reimbursement.


4.
Whether the employee is entitled to a penalty and interest.


5.
Whether the employee is entitled to attorney's fees and costs.  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND PROCEEDINGS

The employee began working for the employer in December of 1995 as a route account manager.  The employee testified at the May 11, 1999 hearing that, in addition to managing his accounts, his duties included delivering between 10,000 and 30,000 pounds of pet food per work day.  The employee testified that on January 9, 1997, he unloaded and carried two 20-pound bags of pet food inside the Eagle River Veterinary Clinic.  He testified he somehow lost his balance and fell approximately two-thirds the way down a flight of stairs at the clinic.  The employee testified he "knocked his wind out" and hurt "all over," but he believed he would recover within a few days.  


The employee testified that initially after his fall his whole body hurt, but after a few days, the pain "localized" and was concentrated primarily in his low back, left side worse, left hip, and his shoulder and neck.  The following Tuesday (January 14, 1997), the employee testified he sought treatment with Duane Odland, D.O.  Dr. Odland treated the employee conservatively, primarily with analgesics, manipulations, and physical therapy.  (See, also, Dr. Odland Dep. at 12-13, 23-24).  


Dr. Odland initially recommended the employee remain off work for two-weeks and participate in physical therapy.  On February 17, 1997, Dr. Odland referred the employee to Daniel Larson, D.C.  In his initial examination on February 17, 1997, Dr. Larson diagnosed injuries to the employee's cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine, the sacroiliac area, and his shoulder.  On this visit, Dr. Larson noted the employee walked with the assistance of a cane.  (Dr. Larson dep. at 5).  Dr. Larson recommended a treatment program consisting of chiropractic treatment, myofascial release techniques, physical therapy (including ultra sound interferential, and a pool program), and isometric stretching.  Dr. Odland noted that the employee cooperated with this therapy and showed improvement, at times.  (Id. at 7-8).  Dr. Larson continued to treat the employee through the summer of 1997.  Dr. Larson has and continues to believe that the employee would benefit from a pain management clinic.  (Id. at 12).  After the employer sent Dr. Larson a controversion notice in December of 1997, he next saw the employee on March 17, 1998.  (Id. at 9).  In Dr. Larson's opinion, the employee did have objectively measurable medical improvement in his condition between June of 1997 and March of 1998.  (Id. at 21).  Dr. Larson does not consider the employee to be a malingerer, although he does have chronic pain.  (Id. at 18, 22).


At the request of the employer, the employee was evaluated by Shawn Hadley, M.D., on April 17, 1997.  In her April 18, 1997 report, Dr. Hadley summarized the employee's numerous pain complaints and noted her findings on physical examination.  Dr. Hadley noted chiropractic X-rays were taken on February 17, 1997 which were unremarkable, and an MRI taken on March 6, 1997, which showed "evidence of disc degeneration at T12-L1, L1-L2, and L2-L3, with some Schmorl's notes.  There is a very small disc bulge at the L1-L2 level."  (Dr. Hadley, April 18, 1997 report).  In the same report, Dr. Hadley diagnosed:  "Chronic pain syndrome, without evidence of significant localized injury."  Dr. Hadley deferred the remainder of her opinion until she could review imaging studies conducted by Lawrence Wickler, M.D., on April 16, 1997.  The employee's May 8, 1997, cervical MRI shows mild disc bulging at C3-4 and C4-5.  In her June 23, 1997, report, Dr. Hadley opined:  



I have just received and reviewed the psychological evaluation performed on Donald Douglas by Dr. Michael Rose on May 13, 1997.  This confirms features of a chronic pain syndrome.  Dr. Rose identifies strong conversion tendencies, as well as a personality disorder.



It appears from Dr. Rose's report that prognosis is guarded, as Mr. Douglas may be resistant to treatment.



It is of note that his cervical spine MRI of May 8, 1997, showed minimal spondylosis with nonsignificant findings.  Those findings do not correlate with his rather global symptoms.  . . . 



In regard to further treatment, a comprehensive pain program should be considered.  I do not feel that there is enough comprehensive treatment available in Alaska that would help Mr. Douglas along.  From what I interpret from Dr. Rose's report, prognosis is fair, even with a good comprehensive pain program.  



I do not feel that further chiropractic treatment is necessary.  



I could consider medical stability to be at the time that Mr. Douglas either completes a comprehensive chronic pain program or is deemed to be finished with such a program (i.e., terminates before completion).  . . . 



There is no objective medical reason why he cannot return to work at the job of his choice;  however, the psychological factors are substantially interfering with his ability to do so.  In order to try to provide Mr. Douglas with the care that would return him to functional activity and gainful employment, it is my opinion that a comprehensive pain program would be most appropriate as the next and final step of care.  


As mentioned above, Dr. Hadley referred the employee to Michael Rose, Ph.D., a psychologist, who evaluated the employee on May 13, 1997.  In that report, Dr. Rose opined in pertinent part:



Mr. Douglas's assessment findings indicate he has a Pain Disorder Associated With Both Psychological Factors and a General Medical Condition in a Personality Disorder with histrionic and dependent features.  There are strong tendencies to somatically convert stress into physical symptoms so that symptoms are magnified. . . . 



Certainly, conservative medical intervention is warranted in treating Mr. Douglas, and, as noted above, his psychological difficulties will need to be effectively addressed before his physical problems and pain complaints will be reduced.  He is already receiving antidepressant therapy, and he should benefit from this form of treatment, not only in managing depressive symptoms but also in helping him manage pain complaints.



Mr. Douglas may benefit from a multidisciplinary pain management approach including services such as physical therapy, cognitive-behavior therapy, biofeedback training, medication management, etc., which could be provided to him on an out-patient basis. . . . If he is unresponsive to short-term, outpatient treatment, he may need referral to a comprehensive pain clinic.  


On referral from Dr. Odland, the employee was evaluated by Mark B. Kabins, M.D., on July 30, 1997.  Dr. Kabins is an orthopedic surgeon with subspecialties in orthopedics and spinal surgery (Dr. Kabins dep. at 4 - 5).   In his deposition at 8 - 13, Dr. Kabins described his examination of the employee as follows:



A.
I reviewed the radiographs which were present in the radiographic reports and I performed a physical examination on him.  In terms of the physical exam, he was a male who appeared to be in marked distress.  He had difficulty attempting to bear weight on his left lower extremity.  He had pain with palpation over his left sacroiliac joint.  He had pain with rotation of his left hip.  He had a positive straight Laseque's sign o the left but this created pain in the hip and buttock but no radicular pain, meaning he didn't have pain shooting all the way down the leg.  He was tender with palpation of the low back.  He had restricted range of motion of his low back.  He was able to forward bend 70 degrees with symmetrical knee and ankle reflexes.  He had no motor weakness with the exception of break away weakness in the left lower extremity which is thought to be possibly secondary to pain.  His sensation was grossly intact.  



Q.
Did you order any diagnostic testing at that time, Doctor?



A.
Yes.  We stated that he required use of a walker for ambulation.  We recommended that he undergo a Technetium bone scan and undergo a CT scan of the pelvis and left sacroiliac joint injection.  I stated that I'd be glad to see him back in follow-up.  



Q.
Did you review the results of the bone scan, the X-ray?



A.
Yes.  A CT scan on July 31st, 1997 of the pelvis demonstrated a built-up (ph) condition and sclerosis involving a majority of the right sacroiliac joint.  This could reflect sequela of prior trauma, or arthritity.  There were also subtle changes in the anterior margins of the pubic body at the pubic symphysis.  The bone scan demonstrated no significantly altered activity.  



Q.
Was there any objective evidence of recent trauma on the CT scan?



A.
There were abnormalities identified but no one can state that specifically that these were conclusively a result of recent trauma.  In other words, the changes that occurred one cannot definitively state when those changes did occur.  


. . . 



A.
My diagnosis was that this patient had a work-related injury and as a result, suffered a left sacroiliac joint injury and possible left hemi-pelvic injury involving the sacroiliac joint and pubic symphysis which caused the pain which he was presenting with.


. . . 



A.
And the injury has likely occurred at the level of the sacroiliac joint which is where the ileum articulates with eh sacrum, where the ileum and sacrum come together.  Also the pubic symphysis, the joint where the cartilaginous interplay is between the two bones, there's also likely an injury there as well.  So when there's a hemi-pelvic injury, there's an injury  to the sacroiliac joint and the pubic symphysis. . . . It's those two sites that there was and injury that occurred.



Q.
Okay.  Thank you.  Why did you send Mr. Douglas to Dr. Kraft?



A.
The purpose of sending him to Dr. Kraft was for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes, to help determine what the cause of the pain was.  My suspicion was and working diagnosis was that this patient had a ligamentous injury, an injury to the joints of the sacroiliac as well as pubic symphysis, so I requested that an injection at those locations be performed and on a theoretical basis, if it takes away his pain, then that would confirm that these joints are the source of the pain which he's experiencing.  Remember, that in the differential diagnosis, it also can be secondary to a low back injury or soft tissue issues in the surrounding tissues that could be causing some of the pain which he's experiencing. . . . On July 31st, 1997 [Dr. Kraft] performed a left sacroiliac joint injection which essentially completely relieved the posterior lumbosacral region pain.  Residual left pubic symphysis region pain remediated with the pubic symphysis injection.  



Q.
Did that confirm your suspicions...



A.
Correct.  


Regarding the employee's recommended course of treatment Dr. Kabins recommended a conservative approach, and:   



A.
I recommended that he undergo a second opinion consultation and I gave him a name of Dr. Joel Matta.  I also stated I would see him back as needed.  A sacroiliac belt was also prescribed for him. . . .



Q.
And did Dr. Matta concur with your diagnosis basically?



A.
He stated "The likely scenario is that the patient's injury produced a dislocation of the symphysis pubis which was associated with an avulsion fracture near the symphysis of the medial aspect of the left inferior pubic ramus.  The symphysis however reduced spontaneously.  This reduction possibly occurred party at the time of injury and then possibly progressive closing of the symphysis occurred over time.  He thought that the patient does have pain related to the pelvic joints, and that the pain in the area of the symphysis as well as pain in the sacroiliac joints have resulted from the injury sustained in January.  

(Id. at 17 - 18).  


Dr. Kabins described Dr. Matta's reputation as  "a superspecialist in pelvic diseases."  (Id. at 21).  Dr. Kabins indicated that if conservative care was not successful, the employee may consider a surgical fusion.  (Id.).  Regarding the employee, Dr. Kabins commented:  "I saw this gentleman on two separate occasions and I would tell you that there was no evidence at any time of malingering or secondary gain behavior."  (Id. at 28 - 29).  "The magnitude of his inabilities were significant and are somewhat unusual in terms of presentation, but as stated earlier, there was no evidence on my behalf of marked symptom magnification or pain exaggeration."  (Id. at 40).  Regarding a pain program, Dr. Kabins commented:  "Whenever you talk about an individual who has chronic pain such as he does, pain management program may be of significant benefit actually."  (Id. at 30).  


The employee testified at the May 11, 1999 hearing that the employer arranged for his participation in a pain management program at Virginia Mason Hospital in Seattle, Washington.  He testified he was prepared to participate in a program of up to 30 days, and he packed accordingly.  In their August 28, 1997 report, Thomas E. Williamson-Kirkland, M.D., and Mary Kathryn Pope, Ph.D., noted:



At this point this is a gentleman who had a fall down five stairs, bruised his hip and shoulder, and has responded by becoming increasingly depressed.  The fact that the bone scan was normal six months after the injury, the fact that the CT scan was almost normal, says that he probably has had no significant trauma to his bony structure to make them unstable or damaged.  His response to this from a pain behavior standpoint is outlandish.  His response to this psychologically which is tremendously defensive, is also very unusual.  The fact that he by report had lack of pain with injection in the SI joint or maybe pudendal nerve or both, does not really indicate he has an unstable pelvis.  Does not necessarily even indicate he has SI joint pain.  It is possible, however, that he has ankylosing spondylitis and this is just the first indication of it that has coincided with the fall down the steps.  However, his behavior tremendously outlandish if this is the diagnosis.  We could probably help make a diagnosis if he was truly unstable in his pelvis, which I have never seen in a young man like this from this minor of an injury. 


Psychologically, the doctors opined:



Agree with Dr. Michael Rose's diagnosis of pain disorder associated with psychological and medical condition, related on a more probable than not basis to his on-the-job injury.  I also see him as qualifying for an adjustment disorder with depressed mood characterized by sleep disturbance, decreased libido, difficulties with concentration and subjective depressed mood and irritability.  This also appears to be related to his industrial injury.  (Emphasis added).  



He has also been diagnosed by Dr. Rose with personality disorder with histrionic and dependant traits and strong conversion tendencies and although his history before his injury does not appear to have sustained this diagnosis, it certainly seems to be actively in place at the present time.  



Significant disability conviction and frustration and anger over feeling that he has not received appropriate treatment for his injury, most specifically attention to the pelvic region, left elbow, and right jaw.  



Suggestion of inadvertent social reinforcement from family members for continued and increasing disability.


Drs. Williamson-Kirkland and Pope did not admit the employee into the pain management program, noting in their August 28, 1997 report:



I think at the moment there really is no other treatment that this man needs except rehabilitation to get moving, but we have to realize that he major reason he is so disabled is a psychological one.  Whether this is just a man who is extremely hypochondriacal and hysterical and has got fixated on disability or there is other secondary gain, I do not know at the moment, but his psychologically unready for treatment.  When I approached him with the idea of rehabilitation the idea that he does not need surgery, that surgery is more likely to make him as bad or worse than no surgery at all, that he is very unlikely to be unstable, he took all this good news as bad news, basically said that other doctors had told him he needs surgery, therefore he needs to go it (sic) that he is not going to listen to anybody else basically.  He thinks he can do anything he wants in terms of exercise back in Alaska, that I could just tell him what exercises to do and he would do it. He was so defensive and so unusual in his responses, that it took a couple of hours to the man finally out of my office and complete the evaluation.  I think that there is no other treatment, but getting him out of the walker, getting him exercising, getting him with good posture and that even if he has ankylosing spondylitis this will be the best thing that can be done for him.  However he has to psychologically accept it, he has to be willing to put out excellent effort and hard work and tolerate some pain which, at the moment, he is not willing to do.  Doing a fusion or any kind of surgery in this man would be a serious mistake with his psychological profile.  If he does not want to undergo intense rehabilitation, then I think there is very little else that is going to be done to help him because of his lack of cooperation.  


In his August 16, 1997 letter to Dr. Odland, Dr. Williamson-Kirkland advised:  



As you probably know, Mr. Douglas was sent down by the insurance company to the Virginia Mason Pain Management Program to be evaluated and possibly treated for his pelvic pain.  I have seen him at great length. I spent at least two hours with him. He was seen by our psychologist, Dr. Pope.  He also saw Dr. Hanscom, a very respectable spine surgeon here at Swedish Hospital.



I am writing you specifically to help you understand where we come from a little bit with this case. It may be very different than your impressions of Mr. Douglas but hopefully this may be of help to you in help in making decisions with him. First of All, in 20 years of doing chronic pain treatment of all sorts but 60% spine, pelvis, etc., I have never seen a young man with an unstable pelvis without major trauma. On trying to exam him he resisted all examination and I find this a very unusual response.



His psychological response to the good news I gave him that I did not think his pelvis was unstable was very negative. This is a man who presents with a whole booklet of plastic coated documents from other physicians, who has seen multiple physicians, who comes in with a walker and wearing a pelvic brace that he says helps him tremendously. When I have him take if off, it is on so loosely it could not possibly do any good.



My impression in total is that he is a man with primarily a psychological disorder, probably a characterological personality disorder, and there probably is some significant secondary gain of some sort going on here. ‑ I would. strongly recommend he not have surgery and that this is exactly the kind of patient who has surgery. and does very poorly and that the only treatment really is to work at rehabilitation to have him get up stranding straight, moving normally, again, and to help him understand that probably there is no such thing as an unstable pelvis in his type of injury in a young man except In ankylosing spondylitis which is a possibility that needs to be looked at maybe again. Even then patients with ankylosing spondylitis do not at this stage at all become this disabled.



In writing to you, I realize I take a little bit of risk in that some physicians do not like other physicians giving them any advice. I thought it would be helpful if you could hear at least directly what we thought of after seeing this patient at quite bit of length and having seen chronic pain patients for 20 years.



I hope you can encourage him to get moving because the longer he is in a disability mode the more likely he will stay there. Good luck with this most difficult patient. We will not treat him in the Pain Management Program unless he wants to be treated, unless you want him to be treated, and unless he is psychologically much more ready to accept that he needs to get up and get moving and not be so resistive of the idea that he may have to get up and get walking normally and have good posture even though he continues to hurt. Good luck again.


On November 3, 1997, Joel M. Matta, M.D., examined the employee.  In his November 3, 1997 report, Dr. Matta opined:



I think the patient does have pain related to his pelvic joints, that is pain in the area of the symphysis as well as pain in the sacroiliac joints which has resulted from the injury sustained in January.  I would agree however, that the limitation and function and pain that the patient reports is beyond what I would usually expect for this type injury.  I have seen patients with chronic pain in the area of they symphysis and SI joint following injuries like this though they would typically walk without a walker and have symptoms that were less severe and frequent than Mr. Douglas.  This is particularly true since I cannot demonstrate pelvic instability with single leg standing films.  Currently the patient has been undergoing physical therapy which has been exercises performed in water.  I do not think he is acutely changing at present.  In fact the patient reports he has gotten at least somewhat better with the physical exercises.  



I think at this point certainly a conservative course could be followed with exercises directed at increasing his functional capabilities.  He had injection of his sacroiliac joints and symphysis which was performed in Las Vegas and the anesthesiologist reported there was a pain relief temporarily from the injections.  This response to injection would also correlate with the sites of pain being as suspected.  


In his deposition at 17, Dr. Matta stated:  "Yes, it's common for patients to be depressed who have traumatic injuries."  At page 32, Dr. Matta explained:



Looking at people I've seen with similar X‑rays, similar complaints, it seemed to me the level of symptoms he complained about, the way he was behaving, kind of hobbling around with the walker, was out of proportion to what I would expect. You know, normally I see patients where they walk pretty good, but say it's bothers me, there's chronic pain, and maybe they couldn't walk fast.



So it wasn't quite there, but it's almost ‑‑ if we put it to saying that he didn't have this injury, I suppose he could have had an old injury to his pelvis which was aggravated by this recent injury of January, a reinjury of this problem and he had an aggravation of complaints, so I said I wasn't ‑‑ but it would be hard for me to put him in the category of saying these complaints are completely non‑related to the January injury, you know. I would be putting him in kind of a category of malingerer or fabricator of complaints, and I don't think I would go that far. I would say he's just not doing so well, not doing as well as I thought he could be with the injury he had.


In his opinion, Dr. Matta believes the employee might benefit from a pain management program (Id. at 17);  Dr. Matta does not believe the employee is a malingerer.  (Id. at 36).  At page 34, Dr. Matta commented:  




[T]he instances of chronic pain, at least in my own patients, has been about one out of three that are troubled by chronic pain, not to this degree that he complaints [sic] of but some chronic pain that can limit their activities, and sometimes it's present in patients even with less severe injuries to the pelvis such as I hypothesized he had.


At the request of the employer, the employee was evaluated again by Dr. Hadley on November 26, 1997.  In her November 30, 1997 report, Dr. Hadley diagnosed:



Chronic pain syndrome.  There is definite evidence of manipulative behavior. I feel that there are strong secondary gain issues, and conscious use of secondary gain to achieve benefit needs to be considered in the differential diagnosis.



There is no indication, from Mr. Douglas' reported injury, that he would have caused a disruption either to his sacroiliac joint or symphysis pubis.



Although Mr. Douglas advised me that he had pain in his "groin" since the time of injury, in fact the pain diagram that Mr. Douglas completed on April 17, 1997, does not indicate any entry by the patient in the area of the pubic symphysis, groin, etc.



In addition, the pain diagram of April 17, 1997, reflects complaint of burning and aching along the left lower back and conceivably the left S1 area, but not the right.



All in all. Mr. Douglas has multiple pain complaints in multiple anatomic areas, which are not consistent and not supported by objective findings, other than reported CT and x‑ray abnormalities of the S1 joints.



As stated, I did not find indication that basic blood studies had been done to look for an inflammatory arthritic condition. If these have not been completed, they should be completed to direct Mr. Douglas toward appropriate care for such an inflammatory arthritis, should it indeed exist.



Otherwise, Mr. Douglas is quite vague and inconsistent in his answers. Again, this raises a strong possibility of conscious secondary gain issues.



Relative to the work injury of January 9, 1997, 1 would consider Mr. Douglas to be medically stable as of today's date.



I find no objective medical reason why Mr. Douglas cannot return to the job of his choice, which would include that of a route salesman.



If it is indeed identified that he has an inflammatory arthritis, this may place restrictions on his work activities, but, if so, this would not be the result of the patient's work injury.



Mr. Douglas' physical complaints and presentation are actually rather incredible. I do not feel that further treatment in regard to his work‑related injury is going to be of particular help to him.  


In her December 8, 1997 addendum, Dr. Hadley opined the employee did not incur a rateable permanent impairment.  Based on these reports, the employer filed a controversion notice, denying "Temporary total disability after 11/30/97;  Permanent partial impairment;  Reemployment benefits."  The reason listed for controverting was "Dr.Hadley's reports of 11/30/97 and 12/8/97 indicate the employee's condition is medically stable, that there is no reason why he cannot return to work as a route salesman, and his permanent impairment rating is 0%."  


The employee continued his conservative treatment with Drs. Odland and Larson, primarily light exercising and a pool program.  Dr. Larson's March 3, 1998 chart note states:  "Gradual improvement of symptoms.  Unable to bend or lift.  SI joints unstable."  Dr. Larson's March 2, 1998 report provides in pertinent part:



Mr. Douglas appears to continue to suffer with his work related injuries.  He is improved over his last visit of August 1997.  So it appears he is progressing slowly.  I understand that no surgical intervention is recommended.  I would say at this time that he has not reached a point of stability because he does show some improvement.  It is difficult to say how much more improvement he will accomplish.  Perhaps he has been at this level of improvement for the past 3 months, having not seen him on a regular basis it is hard to determine that.  If indeed he is making progress it does not seem to make sense to close his case.  We will attempt some ultrasound on his sacroiliac areas on a once per week basis over the next 4 weeks.  He is to continue to do his pool program and home exercise program.  I am not recommending any chiropractic adjust to his pelvic area at this time.  

Dr. Odland's March 26, 1998 chart note provides un:  "Gradual improvement Pt is still having problems bending and lifting.  Unstable SI jts.  Unable to determine (PPI)."  


On September 30, 1998, Douglas G. Smith, M.D., performed a second independent medical examination (SIME) of the employee at the request of the Board.  Regarding causation of the employee's complaints, Dr. Smith opined:



It seems most probable that his complaints of chronic back and pelvic area pain are most likely related to the chronic pain syndrome, which is the primary diagnosis in this case in my opinion.  He does have some underlying degenerative disk disease and also some old x‑rays changes around the pubis.  These could account for some degree of his pain; however, his degree of pain behavior and complaint level would be certainly excessive relative to what would be expected from those entities in themselves. The chronic complaints and behavior could mask some underlying lumbar strain situation superimposed on the degenerative disk disease but his current symptomatology is not really compatible with that type of diagnosis in my opinion. . . . 



Historically it would seem the complaints relative to his pelvis and back have some relationship to the January 9, 1997 injury. The pelvic complaints, however, specifically are more recent than that and seemed to crystallize after being seen by Dr. Kabins in Las Vegas in July of 1997.



As I mentioned, I feel the symptomatology is most probably related to a chronic pain syndrome and not to any organic situation or physical situation that was a result of the 1/9/97 industrial exposure.



After reviewing the case in some detail, I would say it is very unlikely that there was a dislocation of the pubic symphysis, avulsion fracture and disruption of the sacroiliac joints on January 9, 1997.



If there had been trauma of that magnitude, he would not have presented as he did initially to Dr. Odland and to the physical therapist.



It is also not probable that the bone scan done July 31 would have been negative if in fact he had had trauma of the severity suggested by Dr. Kabins or by this question. In my experience, the bone scan would be positive around the injured areas for many months and possibly even years, after that type of an injury.




There are some x‑ray abnormalities. These are probably old. Otherwise those x‑ray abnormalities also would have caused the bone scan to be positive if they had been related to January 9, 1997.


Regarding recommended treatment, Dr. Smith commented:



In my opinion, the only specific additional treatment other than general conditioning, would be enrollment in a comprehensive pain Program. This will only be effective when Mr. Douglas feels that he is willing to cooperate and participate in such a program. When he was last evaluated for that it was felt that he was not psychologically ready for that type of help.



I feel strongly that there is not a pelvic surgery procedure that would predictably improve his situation‑ I think that it is most likely that if he were to have surgery of any type for his current condition that the surgery, even barring complications, would probably in the long run not improve him and would most likely make him worse. Surgery in chronic pain patients does have often have a golden period of two or three months just as injections or other invasive treatments might, but the surgery is rarely curative if the problem is Psychological rather than basically organic or physical.


Regarding the employee's date of medical stability, Dr. Smith opined:


ANSWER: If I had to pick a date for medical stability in case, I would pick August of 1997 after his pain management program evaluation at the Virginia Mason Clinic.



The reason I would pick this date is that at that evaluation it was determined that he was not ready for a comprehensive pain program. It is my opinion that a comprehensive pain program combined with some physical rehabilitation is the most likely thing that would improve Mr. Douglas's condition and return him to some useful function. If that is determined not to be appropriate, then that would indicate that the additional medical care which might provide further objectively measurable improvement is not going to be done at that time. This would lead me to a decision of medical stability.



I would suppose that if the situation changed and he became a good candidate for a pain management program, that might provide clear and convincing evidence which could rebut the presumption of stability.


Dr. Smith rated the employee's permanent partial impairment at 5% of the whole person.  


At the request of the employer, Bryan H. Laycoe, M.D., and James Robinson, M.D., Ph.D., evaluated the employee on June 13, 1998.  In their report of the same date, the doctors opined:



Thus, his physical examination does not reveal objective evidence of an ongoing physical problem or injury from January, 1997. . . . 



We feel strongly that this gentleman does have all aspects of a chronic pain syndrome, including psychological aspects, and that the pain he perceives is real and the limitations that he perceives, although perhaps influenced by functional overlay, are not fabricated.  



We believe that he would benefit from functional restoration and that that should be encouraged by his treating physician, and he should  be motivated toward aggressively increasing his functional abilities in the near future.  In essence, he has a strong pelvis.  He has very strong musculature.  He should proceed with further rehabilitation with the expectation that his pain will gradually lessen.  Occasional use of medications is reasonable to assist him, but this should focus on his assuming control of his complaints and not looking to doctors for further curative treatment.  He should assume control of his rehabilitation program and advance it.  We do not believe that he needs a pain clinic.  We believe he has an excellent rapport with Dr. Odland, and it appears that Dr. Odland has been encouraging toward him.


In their report at 11, the doctors agreed with Dr. Hadley's opinion that the employee was medically stable on November 30, 1997.  The doctors did not find any objectively verifiable permanent impairment.  No further medical treatment was recommended by the doctors.  "In overview, he does demonstrate an individual with excellent muscle development through the upper and lower extremities, full range of motion without weakness and, surprisingly after one year, no atrophy or weakness despite this high level of complaints."  


Dr. Laycoe examined the employee again on May, 1, 1999.  At page 9 during his deposition, Dr. Laycoe commented:  "No, I wouldn't refer to it as any objective difference.  There were clearly subjective differences, but there was not a measurable objective difference in the condition."   Dr. Laycoe summarized the inconsistencies he observed in examining the employee at page 15. 



Q.
Okay.  To -- to the extent that you feel competent to do that, is there something of that sort, do you think, at play here with Mr. Douglas?



A.
Yes, that is another word for these types of findings, that it is symptom magnification. . . . I absolutely agree that it is present.

(Dr. Laycoe dep. at 17 - 18).  

However, at page 25, the following exchange occurred:



Q.
In your view, is -- is Mr. Douglas malingering?



A.
No, there -- there is no way that I could, you know, state medically probability that he's malingering.  You know there's no question there are many possible explanations for his pain complaints, his perception of the pain complaints.  No physician can really state how much pain this individual is having.  We can't measure it, we can't see it, we can't interpret it on a test, so there are many possibilities in where the truth lies as far as his degree of pain, let alone whether he is voluntarily describing the pain to us not accurately or whether his description or perception of the pain is correct, and in essence he's forming from the subconscious level in his perception of pain.  So, no, I couldn't say that he was malingering.  


Regarding a possible fusion of the pubic synthesis, Dr. Laycoe testified that in his 24 years of medical practice, he has never performed that procedure.  Furthermore, he has only seen two patients who have undergone that procedure with other doctors, in 24 years.  (Id. at 29).  When questioned regarding why he disagrees with an injury to the employee's synthesis pubis, Dr. Laycoe stated:  



The . . . principal reason is that his -- his X-ray findings in the synthesis pubis on a more probable than not are old.  His physical exam never really confirmed that the pain was from the synthesis pubis, or the sacroiliac joint there was a possibility, not a probability, that those joints were injured, as opposed to the more probable diagnosis that I made which was strain to the tissues in those areas. 



The second issue is, and unfortunately time has borne out, that it was not a simple injury to those joints as he now has, if you would, widespread, non-anatomic pain complaints, not from those particular joints.  

(Id. at 35 - 36).  



Q.
I believe that Dr. Kabins also testified he did not detect marked symptom magnification, so possibly one of the other doctors that you reviewed did.  



A.
Yes, there's no question that it was . . . in some of the other records.  I don't recall Dr. Kabins, but I think everyone is in agreement that over the years that has become the major problem that Mr. Douglas has is not his localized injuries, but rather this issue of chronic, widespread pain, and lots of symptom magnification.  

(Id. at 38 - 39).  


On May 8, 1998, the employer filed a notice of controversion, denying medical treatment or benefits after May 1, 1998.  The stated reason for controverting was:  "It is the opinion of Shawn Hadley, M.D., that further medical care will not assist in the process of recovery."  


On referral from Dr. Odland, the employee began seeing David Holladay, M.D., a psychiatrist, on August 6, 1998.  At this initial visit, the employee presented as:  "I saw him as depressed and stressed, angry about the issues relating to compensation and his injury and so forth."  (Dr. Holladay dep. at 6).  Dr. Holladay attributed the employee's depressive disorder to his "stressor" describing:  "The financial stresses, the stresses related to eh multiple evaluations and his perception of unfair treatment . . . by medical providers and disability insurance organizations."  (Id. at 8).  



Q.
On page 3 of your outpatient psychiatric evaluation, near the bottom of the page under Impression, I believe you stated, "Significantly there was no depressive symptoms before this [January, 1997] back  injury.  I do not have the impression that there is any malingering occurring.  There appears to be little secondary gain involved."  Is that . . . still your opinion?



A.
That is.  

(Id. at 9).  


Dr. Holladay believes the employee is "very cooperative" in his treatment, and has made "modest to moderate" progress with this psychiatric treatment and counseling (Id. at 9 - 11), and should continue to improve.  (Id. at 14).  Dr. Holladay believes the employee would be cooperative with a pain management program.  (Id. at 11).  Presently, Dr. Holladay does not believe the employee can return to work due to his physical and mental health issues.  (Id. at 19 - 20).  Dr. Holladay described the employee's physical condition and psychological state as, "very interdependent."  (Id. at 34).  Dr. Holladay continues to treat the employee's psychiatric condition with medication.  


In conjunction with his treatment with Dr. Holladay, the employee began receiving counseling from Jana Miner-Collins, in September of 1998.  The following exchange occurred at page 17 - 18 of Ms. Miner-Collins' May 5, 1999 deposition:



Q.
Okay.  It is -- does it appear to you that Mr. Douglas' depression then is the consequence of his fall down the stairs in January of 1997 when he injured himself?



A.
I think that's part of it.  I -- really do see it more as the stressors that came along with that fall.



Q.
Such as?



A.
The pain being an ongoing stress, the financial situation being an ongoing stress.  A sense of not being treated as a human being, being an ongoing stressor, Being....



Q.
The fact that litigation itself is a stressor, are you saying?



A.
Absolutely.  Yeah, absolutely.  The impact it's had on his family.  Not being able to be a provider for his family at this time, and not being able to play with his daughter the way he would like to.  Those have all been stressors.  


Ms. Miner-Collins described the employee as "very, very cooperative" in his therapy treatment, and that he would be cooperative in a pain management program.  (Miner-Collins dep. at 30).  


The employer argues that the employee reached medical stability no later than November 30, 1997, relying on Drs. Hadley, Laycoe, and Robinson.  Alternatively, based on Dr. Smith's report, the employee was medically stable in August, 1997, when he was rejected by Dr. Williamson-Kirkland for the pain management program.  Accordingly, no TTD is due after November 30, 1997.  The employer argues that the preponderance of the evidence does not support an award of PPI or continuing medical care after November 30, 1997.  


The employee argues he is not medically stable, and will not be until his work-related psychological problems are treated, and he can complete a pain program.  Accordingly the employee asserts that he is entitled to TTD from November 30, 1997, continuing, and reimbursement for his medical expenses after November 30, 1997.  The employee asserts that an award of PPI can not be made until he is medically stable.  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

 "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id., 316. The presumption can also attach in an aggravation/acceleration context without a specific event.  Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  


Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989) and Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  


The employer must then rebut the presumption by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991).  The Grainger court also explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1)  produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).


If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 317.  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1)  the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).  Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we find as follows.  


We first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find Drs. Larson, Odland, Kabins, Matta, Holladay, and Ms. Miner-Collins' reports and deposition testimony opine that the employee's conditions and complaints arose from his January, 1997 work injury.  We find, based on this evidence, and the testimony of the employee, that the employee has attached the presumption that his claimed conditions are compensable.  


We next determine whether the presumption is rebutted.  We find, Drs. Hadley, Rose, Williamson-Kirkland, Pope, Laycoe, and Robinson are of the opinion that the employee's complaints are not compensable or related to his January, 1997 work injury.  We find, without weighing their credibility, that the employer has rebutted the presumption the employee suffers from conditions which are compensable under the Act.  


Because the employer has rebutted the presumption, we review the record as whole to determine whether the employee has proved his claim, by a preponderance of the evidence.  Specifically, we consider whether the employee's January, 1997 work injury is a substantial factor in his current disability and need for treatment, if any.  We find he has. 


First, we find the evidence of record is clear and uncontroverted that the employee suffers from a depressive condition.  Furthermore, we find the preponderance of the medical evidence which provides any specific opinion as to the causal relationship as to the root of the employee's depressive condition, relates his depressive condition to the January, 1997 work-related injury.  We are particularly convinced by Drs. Williamson-Kirkland and Pope's August 28, 1997 report, and Dr. Holladay's and Ms. Miner-Collins' depositions.  


Although some of the employer's physicians indicated the employee may be malingering or have secondary gain motives, the employee's other medical providers found he was not malingering.  We find by the preponderance of the evidence supports our finding that the employee is not malingering.  We give greater weight to the opinions of Dr. Holladay and Ms. Miner-Collins, the employee's long term, treating psychological providers.  (See also, reports and depositions of Drs. Larson, Kabins, Matta, and Laycoe).  


Regarding the employee's date of medical stability, we find he has not yet reached medical stability.  Virtually all medical and psychological providers indicate the employee would benefit, and his condition would improve with, participation and completion of a pain management program.  This was first contemplated by the employee's treating physicians and confirmed by Dr. Hadley.  In her June 23, 1997 report, Dr. Hadley opined the employee would be medically stable after a pain management program.  In his October 4, 1998 report, the SIME physician, Dr. Smith agreed the employee would be medically stable after a comprehensive pain program.  


We find virtually all medical opinions on this matter concur with the employee's position that his depressive psychological condition presently prevents his participation in a pain management program.  Because we find this depressive condition is directly related to his January 1997 work-related injury, we also find the employee's work-related depressive condition must be resolved, before a pain management program can be attempted and/or completed.  Accordingly, we conclude the employee is not yet medically stable.  We conclude the employee is entitled to be paid TTD from November 30, 1997, and continuing.  We conclude the employer shall reimburse the employee's medical and psychological expenses incurred after May 1, 1998, including transportation expenses (or whomever or which ever agency has paid for these benefits).  


Regarding the employee's request for an award of a penalty and interest, we find the employer controverted both the employee's time-loss and medical benefits based on reports from its medical evaluators.  We find these controversions were filed in good faith, and conclude a penalty is not due.  However, we do find the employee should be compensated for the time value of the time-loss and medical benefits we've awarded herein.  We conclude, the employer shall pay interest from the date those benefits were due, at the statutory rate under AS 45.45.010, on these benefits awarded.  Land and Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Moretz v. O'Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764 (Alaska 1989).


We have concluded the employee is not yet medically stable.  Accordingly, we conclude an award for permanent partial impairment benefits is premature.  We reserve jurisdiction to decide any disputes regarding future PPI that may arise.  


Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.180(b) provides in pertinent part:  



An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must  






(1)
file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and




(2)
if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.  If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee. 


We find the employee did not file an affidavit of attorney's fees prior to or at the May 11, 1999 hearing.  Accordingly, we conclude the employee is limited to an award of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(a) which provides in pertinent part:



(a)  Fees for legal services ren​dered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensa​tion, and 10 per cent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compen​sation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controvert​ed and awarded. . . .  In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the na​ture, length and com​plexi​ty of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensa​tion beneficiaries. 


We find the claim was controverted both by a Controversion Notice and by the employer's actions.  Wein Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).  We find the employer resisted paying benefits from November 30, 1997, and continuing;  we find the value of these benefits to the employee were substantial.  We find the issues were complicated, and vigorously contested.  We find the employee obtained the services of an attorney who provided legal services, submitting evidence to support the employee's claims and aggressively pursued his claims.  We find the attorney's actions resulted in the ultimate resolution and successful determination of his claims for benefits.  


We find that, although we have awarded a substantial present award (time-loss and medical benefits) and potential future award (PPI), we can not ascertain an exact sum to the benefits we have awarded.   Accordingly, we conclude we can not accurately calculate the employee's award of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(a).  Accordingly, we reserve jurisdiction to resolve any disputes in regard to the amount of the employee's attorney's fees.  We find a statement of costs need not be filed contemporaneous with a hearing date under 8 AAC 45.180.  Accordingly we will also reserve jurisdiction to award costs upon receipt of a cost affidavit from the employee.  


ORDER

1.
The employer shall pay the employee temporary total disability benefits from November 30, 1997, until the employee is medically stable.  The employer shall also pay the employee interest, at the statutory rate, on those benefits which are past due from the date the became due, until paid.  


2.
The employer shall pay, or reimburse the employee for medical, and psychological benefits, including related transportation costs, incurred since May 1, 1998.  The employer shall also pay the employee interest, at the statutory rate, on those benefits which are past due from the date they became due, until paid.  


3.
We reserve jurisdiction regarding an award of permanent partial impairment benefits, attorney's fees, and legal costs in accordance with this decision and order.  


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this _________________ day of 

 _________________, 1999.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



Darryl L. Jacquot, 



Designated Chairman



___________________________________



Andrew J. Piekarski, Member


CONCURRENCE AND PARTIAL DISSENT OF MEMBER HAGEDORN

I agree with my fellow panel members conclusion that the employee would  not reach medical stability until participation in a pain management program.  However, I would not award temporary total disability benefits to this claimant after his rejection for the pain management program in August, 1997.  I would find the employee did not make a good faith effort toward successful completion of the pain management program.  The employee has a responsibility to mitigate damages caused by his injury.  Bignell v. Wise Mechanical Contractors, 651 P.2d 1163, 1168 (Alaska 1982);  Carter v. Sig Wold Storage, AWCB No. 88-0323, at 3 (November 30, 1988).  "The law contemplates that the injured workman will do everything humanly possible to restore himself to his normal strength so as to minimize his damages." Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board, 17 Alaska 658 (D. Alaska 1958); Harding v. Placid Oil Co., AWCB No. 90-0245 (October 9, 1990).  


In the instant case, I conclude Mr. Douglas, for reasons unclear to a number of physicians treating him, has not put forth a good faith effort to get better.  He has non-specific findings of physical maladies, which have somatically been converted to stress and depression, resulting in symptoms that he now believes were derived from his original injury.  When board certified physicians use words such as "outlandish," "incredible," and "tremendously defensive" to describe Mr. Douglas' presentation for examination, I am very skeptical of his mitigation of his injuries.  He had a bone scan which was read as "normal" six months after injury.  He was diagnosed with minimal spondylosis with non-specific findings.  I believe these findings point to issues of the credibility of Mr. Douglas and his motives in this claim.  I note that Mr. Douglas does have a civil suit against the veterinary clinic where the injury occurred.  This too could explain why he has failed to get better, and why a number of physicians have questioned his intentions.  In conclusion, I would again state that by not putting forth a good faith effort, the employee did not mitigate his damages, and is not entitled to TTD after his rejection to the pain management clinic.  







___________________________________







S. T. Hagedorn, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of Donald H. Douglas, employee / applicant; v. Hills Pet Nutrition, employer; and Travelers Insurance Co., insurer / defendants; Case No.9702877; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this _____________ day of _________________, 1999.

                             _________________________________

                             Brady D. Jackson III, Clerk
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